Eastern Kentucky University

Encompass

Online Theses and Dissertations

Student Scholarship

January 2019

Pacifying the Visual: Police Reform and the Promise of Body Worn Cameras

Ivan Benitez Eastern Kentucky University

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/etd

Part of the Criminology and Criminal Justice Commons

Recommended Citation

Benitez, Ivan, "Pacifying the Visual: Police Reform and the Promise of Body Worn Cameras" (2019). *Online Theses and Dissertations*. 613. https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/613

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Online Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact Linda.Sizemore@eku.edu.



PACIFYING THE VISUAL: POLICE REFORM AND THE PROMISE OF BODY WORN CAMERAS

BY

IVAN BENITEZ

THESIS APPROVED:

Chair, Advisory Committee

lember, Advisory Committee

hep

Member, Advisory Committee

د Dean, Graduate School



STATEMENT OF PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Master of Science degree at Eastern Kentucky University, I agree that the Library shall make it available to borrowers under rules of the Library. Brief quotations from this document are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgements of the source are made. Permission for extensive quotation from or reproduction of this document may be granted by my major professor. In [his/her] absence, by the Head of Interlibrary Services when, in the opinion of either, the proposed use of the material is for scholarly purposes. Any copying or use of the material in this document for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Signature:

X Jun trainteg

Date: 6/28/2019



PACIFYING THE VISUAL: POLICE REFORM AND THE PROMISE OF BODY WORN CAMERAS

BY

IVAN BENITEZ

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Eastern Kentucky University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE



©Copyright by IVAN BENITEZ 2019 All Rights Reserved.



DEDICATION

To my nephew and my best friend Maximiliano Bell, who I can always count on to ask me if I have finished my homework. Having you around has made me stay grounded to the family even when I am busy with the books.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank Dr. Travis Linnemann for having the patience to work with me and helping me to develop this thesis. I would also like to thank Dr. Bill McClanahan for being an excellent critique and pointing out areas that I further developed. Lastly, I would like to thank Dr. Judah Schept for being a supportive professor and a wonderful committee member.



ABSTRACT

Reform is a political tool, long used to ensure the continuation of specific police practices and the police institution itself. Promising increased transparency and accountability and hence legitimacy, Body Worn Cameras (BWCs) purport to show the facts of police work and critical incidents precisely as they happened. Invoking and relying upon the objective truth of the image, policy makers, academics and some police themselves see BWCs both as a panacea to arrest police misconduct and a way to guard against spurious allegations. However, placing them in the long history of police reform, BWCs are also usefully understood as a form of pacification, one which seeks to reaffirm police legitimacy specifically by mastering the visual field itself. Relying upon a collection of official documents outlining the efficacy and implementation of BWCs, it is argued here that police advocates seek to shield the institution from scrutiny by invoking photographic truth, while less sympathetic reformers likewise overestimate the ability of the visual to reign in the violence inherent to the police project.



v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	PAGE
I. Introduction	1
II. Police reform, pacification and the visual	7
History of technocratic policing	7
Pacification	
Visuality	
III. Methods	
IV. Analysis	
Transparency	
Accountability	
Image as truth	
References	



I. Introduction

In 1991, several officers of the Los Angeles Police Department (LAPD) were recorded beating a speeding motorist named Rodney King, leaving him critically wounded and near death. Here, in grainy black and white video, the public could witness firsthand the violence of police directed at poor people of color. King's beating also exacerbated the deep-rooted tensions between hyper-policed black communities and the LAPD, resulting in protests and demands which included the resignation of the much-maligned Chief of the LAPD, Daryl Gates. Even with damning video evidence, the officers involved in King's beating were acquitted of any wrongdoing. The verdict, of course, ignited the 1992 Los Angeles uprising, which lasted five days, left the city with over a billion dollars in damages, cost fifty people their lives, wounded over two thousand and resulted in approximately twelve thousand arrests.

Fast-forward twenty-three years to 2014, and police violence had, of course, not abated. Another high-profile case occurred in Chicago, Illinois in the fall that year, when a white cop named Jason VanDyke shot and killed a seventeen-year old boy named Laquan McDonald. Like the famous King video, the murder of McDonald was also recorded, this time from the dash-cam of a Chicago Police Department cruiser. According to the video and the subsequent investigation, VanDyke fired his weapon, leaving Laquan McDonald lifeless on the pavement within seconds of his arrival. While McDonald was the ninth person killed by the CPD in 2014 (Police accountability tool, 2017), the controversial case again placed visual evidence at the center of questions concerning police violence and accountability.



While Mayor Rahm Emmanuel initially supported the decision to sequester the video, fearing that its release would lead to disorders like those in Ferguson and Baltimore, his office eventually relented and ordered the footage be released to the public. In the resulting trial, VanDyke was found guilty of second-degree murder and sixteen counts of aggravated battery with a firearm and sentenced to seven years in prison. The McDonald family received a settlement of sixteen million dollars, one million for each bullet fired. Even more notably, because of the controversy generated by his office's handling of the case, Emmanuel chose not to seek reelection. When compared to the acquittals in King's case and the subsequent disorder, that the videotaped killing of Laquan McDonald resulted in a rare murder conviction and prison sentence, a sizeable settlement to his survivors and perhaps ended a political administration, it may seem as though progress has been made in the systematic response to police violence. The latter case may also further support the power of the visual in effecting social change. However, upon closer inspection of the King and McDonald cases and of police violence more generally, we should perhaps pause with some caution on the power of police reform and on the efficacy of the visual as a method to arrest police violence and bring about widespread social change. As Travis Linnemann and Corrina Medley (2018) note, state violence is permitted to work in secrecy so that there are no questions asked regarding use of force. Take King's case, where presiding officer Stacey Koon, testified that his actions along with his officers were a "managed and controlled use of force that followed the (LAPD's) policy, and did so to the book" (Mitchell, 1994), regardless of the evidence clearly reflecting



excessive use of force. Indeed, as policy makers from across the nation increasingly point to Body Warn Cameras as a key police reform, we need only review the circumstances of Laquan McDonald's death a bit closer to have increased skepticism regarding the reformist potentials of the visual. For example, VanDyke's lawyer Daniel Q. Herbert stated in an interview that "video, no matter how clear it is, does not ever tell the full story, unless it is a video that captures every single event that is relevant from the relevant perspectives" (Thomas, n.d.). Thus, according to Mirzoeff (2011a), living under a dominant ideology that supports the police power makes it nearly impossible to see the use of violence even when the evidence is crystal clear. By simply changing the point of view in which the visual is captured, the images change from questionable to truthful evidence that ultimately authorizes the public a gaze into police work and how to understand it.

As many have noted (Linnemann, 2017; Kotsko, 2012) the political theater of prosecuting a "bad cop" may actually further entrench police misconduct, as it makes the institution appear more reflexive and accountable to criticism. Even more materially, the settlements paid to survivors of police violence, rarely impacts everyday police budgets and usually leaves the corresponding communities on the hook for the bill. What's more, as Tyler Wall and Travis Linnemann (2014) have shown, the visual is often offered as a window into the facts of the case or "truth" by police and policy makers, usually without any acknowledgement of how police routinely manipulate or withhold videos and destroy evidence. And ultimately, as Linnemann (2017) has noted



elsewhere, the power of the visual, as a product of human culture and understanding, is constrained by the positionality of the viewer. As he writes,

And though it offers means to challenge policing's subjective violence and a diagnostic of its fleeting harms and secret desires, the image must not be exalted as a panacea of social change. As Judith Butler (1993) and Allan Feldman (1994) argued in their confrontations with the fifty-six baton blows suffered by Rodney King, political subjects' embeddedness and complicity in histories of violence and domination often prevents them from seeing even those things that are in plain view. Here we might say that those who could see the savagery of King's beating perhaps did not need to and likewise, those who could not immediately recognize King's suffering, perhaps never would (Linnemann, 2017).

Nevertheless, the visual remains a viable avenue to police reform. In the midst of crisis, police have been quick to offer up this and other reforms to satiate an angry public. Similar to the Rodney King riots, the 1968 Watts riots were also a resistance to the systemic issues in policing that targeted poor African American communities. In response to the ongoing riots, Lyndon B. Johnson formed The National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders (Kerner Commission), which concluded that "our nation is moving toward two societies, one black, one white—separate and unequal" (National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders, 1968, pg.1). One recommendation made by the Kerner Commission was to increase federal funding that would lift people out of poverty. It further recommended new police practices that integrate communities and police departments. For example, the city of Los Angeles transitioned from officers patrolling large beats in squad cars onto their experimental "team policing" model which coupled officers to patrol small beats on foot (Abolition Research Group, 2017, pg. 3).



Following the legacy of Kerner, and two months after Michael Brown's death, President Barack Obama issued the Presidential Task Force on 21st Century Policing, which among other things, advocated the use of body worn cameras (BWCs) to combat police misconduct. In addition to this highly placed policy body, recent trends in literature supports the benefits of BWCs, such as reducing police use of force and citizen's complaints (Ariel, Farrar & Sutherland, 2015; Mesa Police Department, 2013; Katz & Kurtenbach, 2014; White, 2014; Ariel, Sutherland, Henstock, Young, Drover, Sykes, Megicks & Henderson, 2016a). Moreover, BWCs can bolster external oversight that simultaneously holds the police and the public accountable for their actions (Farrar & Ariel, 2013). Although BWCs have gained support from some policy makers and academic researchers as a way of curbing police misconduct, it is imperative to note that these devices are not fool proof. Officers can turn BWCs off, destroy and or fabricate evidence and flatly refuse to use them. For example, officer Richard Pinheiro Jr. of Baltimore, Maryland was indicted January 2018 after being recorded on his own BWC planting drug evidence at a crime scene (Fenton, 2018, pg. 1). Once again, BWCs produce such a reliable and objective truth that it can be used to punish officers acting unlawfully. And from a visuality perspective, it may be necessary to have few officers act as scapegoats to demonstrate the reliable accountability that comes from visual evidence. Although BWC visual evidence could result in the same outcome as far as holding an officer accountable, this would give the state control over its visual even when evidence is damning. Likewise, Judah Schept (2016) summarizes Nicholas Mirzoeff's (2011a) work on visuality, using BWCs, which promise transparency and



accountability, gives the state the prerogative to dominate the how the public understands and challenges state power. Thus, the state's power allows for an approved vision of policing to be fabricated even when holding an officer accountable is required. Because the video evidence captured by BWCs are said to reflect the objective truth, proponents then find them feasible for addressing misconduct and spurious allegations. In doing so, police reform and specifically BWCs are simply empty gestures seeking the pacification of the public into accepting state domination in exchange for material changes that promise a boost in transparency and accountability.

Here, BWCs supposedly provide the facts of police work and critical incidents precisely as they happened, and in turn disavow police violence. Invoking and relying upon the objective truth of the image from BWCs, policy makers, academics and some police themselves see the devices both as a panacea to arrest police misconduct and a way to guard against spurious allegations. However, placing them in the long history of police reform, BWCs can be understood as material changes made to encourage the public to again view the police as accountable, and more importantly, indispensable to their security. Arguably, BWCs seek to reaffirm police legitimacy specifically by mastering the visual field itself. Relying upon a collection of official documents outlining the implementation and use of BWCs, it is argued here that police advocates seek to shield the institution from scrutiny by invoking photographic truth, while less sympathetic reformers likewise overestimate the ability of the visual to reign in the violence inherent to the police project.



II. Police reform, pacification and the visual

History of technocratic policing

Police reform in the United States initially began in the mid-19th century, when the police began adopting guns and nightsticks. This is known as the political era because of the suture between politicians and the police (Seaskate, 1998). The 20th century, however, is most recognized as the professional era, which sought to professionalize policing by distancing it from politics. Along with setting hiring standards for officers and administrators to curtail cronyism, police departments directed their attention to technocratic reforms such as motor vehicles, two-way radios, polygraphs, as well as automatic fingerprint identification system that could facilitate police work (Seaskate, 1998). This would later include the use of radars for traffic law enforcement as well as computer assisted dispatching systems, and the official number 911 for the police was officially set by the 1970's (Seaskate, 1998). At the same time, however, technologies were being developed that could facilitate the police efforts to control crowds or riots, such as the taser which delivers a 50,000-volt shock and would later adopt pepper spray as well as an alternative to the use of force (Seaskate, 1998). In adding to the growth of the computerization of United States policing, former President Lyndon B. Johnson, passed the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 which expanded funding for criminal justice institution and provided computers, crime labs, and new training to police departments all over the country.

In dealing with visual evidence, however, dashcams were originally introduced into United States policing by the 1980's. however, because it has been argued that the



perspective does not give sufficient understanding of the incident and is therefore not credible. Perhaps this is why there has been a call for BWCs that ultimately present an objective truth. Although BWCs, first employed in England by the Devon and Cornwall police, are relatively new technology, they are increasingly relevant in the context of the post-Ferguson present. One early independent study by ODS consulting found that adopting BWCs diminished the likelihood of an officer being assaulted, while also reducing spurious allegations (ODS Consulting, 2011). US based BWC studies have also had similar results of decreasing the number of citizen's complaints. For example, Willian Farrar and Barak Ariel (2013) found that officers without BWCs were twice as likely to use force during their shifts, juxtaposed to officers who received BWCs. Another study similarly found that officers in experimental shifts equipped with BWCs were significantly less likely to use force and receive complaints compared to the control group who did not receive BWCs (Ariel, Farrar & Sutherland, 2015).

Conducting their own evaluations, the Phoenix Police Department also found that embracing BWCs boosted police productivity - based on the number of arrests made-and reduced complaints (Choate, Ready & Nuno, 2014). Arizona's Mesa Police Department additionally found that officers with BWCs were less likely to receive complaints compared to officers without them (Mesa Police Department, 2013). Subjecting police and civilians to BWCs not only increases police transparency but has also functioned as a surreptitious mechanism of social control that alters natural behaviors into conforming ones (Fagan, Geller, Davies & West, 2010; Farrar & Ariel, 2013). Command staff officers at the departmental level similarly affirmed trust in



BWCs as a method to reduce the use of force and filed citizen's complaints (Smykla, Crow, Crichlow, and Snyder, 2016). Justin Ready and Jacob Young (2015) interviewed one hundred sworn officers from the Mesa Police Department in Arizona on their perceptions of BWCs and found that officers believed they were useful and facilitated carrying out police practices.

One question to ask however, is why if most of the literature has pointed that BWCs produce transparency and accountability, is there still skepticism in trusting the cameras to work effectively and efficiently? Of the most visible critics of the technology, the ACLU worried that a full-scale implementation of BWCs could surreptitiously surveil and invade the public's privacy (Stanley, 2013). The Las Vegas Police Protective Association also suggested that forcing officers to wear BWCs could change their current work conditions and negatively impact officer safety (Schoenmann, 2012). New York City's largest police union, the Police Benevolent Association, suggested that hiring more officers made more fiscal and practical sense than rolling out BWC and paying for their upkeep (Celona, 2013).

It is perhaps possible that the inconsistency in literature regarding BWCs and their abilities to improve police departments has created skepticism for a wholesale adoption. For example, two contradicting studies found that if BWCs are used inappropriately they could exacerbate already existing issues. Officers given recording discretion increased their use of force (Ariel, Henstock, Sutherland, et al., 2016b). Secondly, officers with BWCs had a higher likelihood of being assaulted (Ariel, Henstock, Sutherland, et al., 2016c). The UK Home Office further recognized potential



health concerns caused by BWCs, such as being shocked by the wiring as well as neck or head injuries caused by the weight of the device (Goodall, 2007). Lastly, some officers (Jennings, Friddell & Lynch, 2014), and officers with less experience (Smykla, Crow, Crichlow & Snyder, 2016), doubted that BWCs could make any positive significant changes to their work conditions. Perhaps more officers perceiving BWCs as ineffective to police practices could undermine the devices and possibly delay their adoption process. Given the position of BWCs in the current calls for police reform and the history of police reform itself, it is prudent to consider how BWCs may operate as a form of pacification, defusing criticism and shielding the institution of policing from meaningful change.

As John Uhr (2001) notes (see also Goldsmith, 2005), accountability for powerholders, such as the police, must be present within democratic governments to maintain popular consent or public's trust. However, there are several reasons why the public may lose faith in the police, such as civilian perceptions of the police maintaining the status quo (Choongh, 1997), or oppressing underrepresented groups (Goldsmith, 2003). This is also reflective upon the fact that public perceptions of the police operating under impunity has resulted in demands for increasing external oversight (Goldsmith, 1991). As Robert Reiner (2000) notes (see also Goldsmith, 2005), the public often mistrusts the police since they are often under suspicion and perceive anyone as a potential threat. Likewise, Tom Tyler and Yuen Huo (2002) note that small negative police encounters significantly impact how individuals perceive the effectiveness of the courts and the police institution.



In response to the dwindling levels of public trust, the police institution must decide whether material changes are necessary to bolster police legitimacy. Seeking to re-brand the police institution as trustworthy, reformers have relied on boosting accountability as a means to demonstrate responsiveness to misconduct. Increasing accountability can also work to omit the preexisting negative public perceptions of the police to begin building positive perceptions.

Goldsmith (2005) notes that the willingness of the police to act fairly and transparently creates performance expectations for the police that will gain public support. In utilizing third-party interventions, police agencies reaffirm a culture embracing police competency and accountability. Here, using BWCs is thought to create the external oversight that will force officers to act by the books. As noted by Goldsmith and others (Levi, 1998; Goldsmith, 2001; Weitzer, 2002), it is important that higher ranked officials embrace a culture of accountability. And in this case, larger police agencies like the Los Angeles Police Department (LAPD) and the New York Police Department's (NYPD) decision to implement BWCs is arguably an attempt to boosting accountability.

Drawing on the work of Margaret Levi (1998), Goldsmith (2005) notes that the material changes made must align with the interest of the policed public. Here we can see how the use of BWCs, which are said to provide accountability and present the institution as responsive to police violence, have led to a boost in public trust. In addition, using third parties to affirm a power balance between the police and civilians has also elevated levels of public trust in the police. As Ronald Weitzer (2002) notes,



when the LAPD introduced an independent federal monitor to oversee police reform, this resulted in an increase in public trust. This could arguably explain why BWCs, which are presented as an objective oversight to the police, have been used to target public trust and repair the ties between the police and communities.

Non-government organizations such as the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) and the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) also play a significant role in producing public trust in the police. For instance, their ability to inform civilians of their rights to monitor the performance of police agencies (Goldman, 2015) intimately involves them in assuring that policies and procedures are obeyed. As it will be discussed later, non-state organizations efforts to endorse BWCs for their ability to provide accountability, although perhaps unintentionally, work to reaffirm the police institution. This would explain why the ACLU (ACLU, 2016) and the NAACP (NAACP Criminal Justice Department, 2016) have made policy models and recommendations that facilitate their adoption process by deeming them as a potential tool to curtail police misconduct and boost police legitimacy.

From a more critical perspective, however, we can understand how police reform promises perfection (Correia & Wall, 2018). In other words, police reform that provides material changes seeks to separate the police institution from its inherent use of violence (Correia & Wall, 2018). Instead, individual officers are punished for their misconduct and the institution appears responsive. This in turn preserves the police institution which is essential to the maintenance of capitalist order and the accumulation



of private property (Correia & Wall, 2018). One issue with police reform however, is that along with its goal of reaching the police institution to perfection, it also expands the police power through federal grants that promote more officers, training, and equipment (Correia & Wall, 2018). Thus, the introduction of BWCs can then be understood as part of another reform era attempting to distance police from violence by implementing material changes and promising improvements. However, using BWCs to improve the police project should be understood as police reform seeking to professionalize the police institution by reshaping state power and "making police violence more efficient and more 'civilized'" (Correia & Wall, 2018, pg. 122). *Pacification*

Mark Neocleous (2000) notes the police institution's crucial role in preserving the capitalist system by disavowing its inherent problems and fabricating the general social order of wage labor and private property. This arguably makes police reform crucial to preserving the institution that securitizes capitalist order. If this is the case, then the police obtaining the public's trust is vital to capitalist expansion as it creates a greater sense of police legitimacy. One dilemma faced, however, is whether the state wants to use force to maintain dominance or more civilized approach that does not require brute force. In his history of pacification, Neocleous (2011) articulates the origins of counterinsurgency pacification projects which trace back to the late sixteenth century, when King Phillip II of Spain responded to the concerns of his subjects regarding the empire's conquest. Future colonialist expansions were now termed projects of pacification that intended to reorient colonization as a peaceful way of



disciplining unruly subjects under Spanish rule (Neocleous, 2014). Here, the goal of pacification was to develop a strategy consisting of collaborative work between colonialists and influential indigenous figures who would aid in learning local cultures and terrain. Subsequently building rapport, colonialists could win the "hearts and minds" of indigenous people without relying so heavily on violence. This was facilitated by targeting children and indoctrinating them early on as a means of ideological pacification. Hence, meeting the material needs of indigenous populations was one technique used to pacify territories and maintain a dominant order.

Spanish conquistador Captain Bernardo de Vargas Machuca published counterinsurgency manuals after completing many pacification campaigns. These warfare manuals emphasized the significance of learning and operating under similar fighting strategies of indigenous populations to facilitate the pacification process. His work subsequently inspired French and US tactics in Vietnam and was later incorporated into counterinsurgency tactics throughout the twentieth century. For example, in 1962 the Kennedy administration implemented a counterinsurgency program in Southeast Asia that emphasized "security and development" to cease communism from further spreading. This was arguably the same time when the United States began adopting counterinsurgency pacification strategies to direct at its domestic populations. (Rigakos & Ozcan, 2014; Seigel, 2018). Ultimately, Neocleous (2000) notes that pacification is a process where unruly populations accept an ideological domination from an oppressive state without calling for violence. However, the state at times displays its potential to dominate by force to remind newly subjects that the



peaceful way is the superior choice. It is here that the police power is used as a political tool to fabricate social order (Neocleous, 2000) and providing the public with a sense of security for the agenda of colonial enterprise such as capital accumulation.

Thus, pacification projects are inherently destructive and productive, seeking the destruction of any existing order and the implementation of a new one with the use of soft approaches against subjects refusing to yield. Regardless of failed attempts in Vietnam, however, counterinsurgency projects have meshed into police practices subsequently used throughout the war on drugs (Williams, 2011). For example, the DEA recruited soldiers returning from Vietnam to fulfill tasks that required similar skills used in Vietnam. This includes transitioning helicopter pilots from dropping napalm bombs in Vietnam, to spraying herbicides throughout Mexican drug fields as a part of Nixon's "war on drugs" (Linnemann, 2016; Frydl, 2013). While the marijuana fields were an immediate cash crop for the poor people of the Sierra Madre region, preventing them from further flourishing ceased any opportunities for abrupt peasant revolutions that resisted state domination (Frydl, 2013). Wall and Linnemann (2014) use this concept of pacification regarding the "war on cameras" as a response to dominate the aesthetic visual of police power. For these two, anyone recording the police poses a challenge to the state's right to control its own image and is thereby deemed a threat (Wall & Linnemann, 2014). Following Wall and Linnemnann's theoretical framework, we can say that BWCs can be seen as a technology of police reform, promising to make police transparent and accountable. More specifically, we can see how the image provided by BWCs can undermine perspectives outside of



officers involved in critical incidents and seeks to disavow state violence by creating a limited narrative of how to understand police work. However, in the context of the history of police reform, and the doubts raised by Wall and Linnemann regarding efficacy of the image to arrest police violence, we might even more skeptically view BWCs not only as another example in a long line of police reforms, but also as a pacification method that relies upon the notion of visual truth. Even more critically then, we might argue that BWCs are not only a form of pacification that employs the visual, but also by creating a specific, approved vision of policing, a method pacify the visual field.

Visuality

As Susan Sontag (1977) notes, the images we register are subject to interpretation based upon the viewers ideology. In this case, where the police are fundamental to maintaining capitalist order (Neocleous, 2000), it could ultimately leave BWC visual evidence to perceive the officer's perspective as the truthful. As other scholars have also noted (see also Barthes, 1978; Sekula, 1986; Sontag, 1977), the camera also functions to dehumanize the powerless, however, only through the work of ideology. As Judith Butler articulates on the framing of war, the images provided to the public are actively interpreted based on how we understand who we are fighting against (Butler, 2009). And while the state is allegedly securing capitalist order through the police power, this leaves BWC evidence with limited interpretations and deems anyone in sight of an officer as a potential threat to security.



And ultimately, as Philip Jones and Claire Wardle (2010) note, photographs are only interpreted in the way in which the dominant ideology allows. This could make it difficult to challenge the states perspective captured from an officers BWC with it existing within a capitalist society that affirms the police power. This could arguably categorize BWC visual evidence along with legal images, which according to Katherine Biber (2007) "purport to tell the truth" (2007, pg. 5). And while the link between photography and criminology exist within the realms of pseudo sciences like phrenology and physiognomy (Sekula, 1986), we should remain cautious that BWC visual evidence could instead solidify the disadvantaged as a criminalized other. Visuality then, regarding BWCs, can be seen as understanding the state's role in boosting its legitimacy by demonstrating its role in fighting crime to maintain order. Likewise, as Mirzeoff (2011a) notes, by naturalizing its power, the state determines what is (un)seeable to the public. Schept (2016) further articulates Mirzoeff's argument that visuality is comprised of classification, separation, and aestheticization, in which the state creates a hegemonic "common sense" of how we understand its history. Thus BWC visual evidence could likely work in a way that disavows the states use of violence that preserves the police institution and even greater, capitalist order (Mirzeoff, 2011b; Neocleous, 2000), or in the words of Schept (2016, pg. 3), "the quotidian violence underwriting authority is made illegible and unseeable" through the very technology designed for increased transparency.



III. Methods

A non-probability sampling method, or a purposive theoretical method was used to gather data for this study. This method was utilized as it was necessary to have a sample with similar characteristics. I draw data from eight national organizations and attendant policy documents focusing on police reform, specifically addressing BWCs and their potential for increasing transparency and accountability, and hence legitimacy, as the best method to reign in police violence. In doing an analysis, any information that pertained to "body-worn camera, transparency, accountability, and police perspective", was extracted from the following documents:

- President's Task Force on 21st Century Policing. (2015). Final report of the President's task force on 21st century policing. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services.
- Miller, L., & Toliver, J. & Police Executive Research Forum. (2014). Implementing a body-worn camera program: Recommendations and lessons learned. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Assistance, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services.
- NYPD completes rollout of body-worn cameras to all officers on patrol (New York City Police Department, 2019). Retrieved from https://www1.nyc.gov/site/nypd/news/pr0306/nypd-completes-rollout-body-worn-cameras-all-officers-patrol#/0
- Mather, K. (2018, March 20). LAPD to reverse policy and make body camera, patrol car videos public. Retrieved from https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-lapd-video-release-20180320-story.html
- NAACP Criminal Justice Department. (2016). Pathways to Police Reform Community Mobilization Toolkit. Retrieved from <u>https://www.naacp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Toolkit.pdf</u>



- ACLU. (2016). Police body-worn cameras: how to do it right in Massachusetts. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aclum.org/sites/default/files/wpcontent/uploads/2016/07/BWC-ACLUM-Position-6-23-16.pdf</u>
- Laney, T., & Bonsu, J. (n.d.). Agenda to keep us safe. Retrieved from <u>https://agendatobuildblackfutures.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/BYP100-</u> <u>Agenda-to-Keep-Us-Safe-AKTUS.pdf</u>
- Campaign Zero (n.d.). Body Cams/ Film the Police. Retrieved from <u>https://www.joincampaignzero.org/film-the-police</u>

Once identified, I read each document thoroughly several times, noting key suggestions related to the use of BWCs as I read. Following the initial read, I opencoded the material paying attention to the language stakeholders used to advocate for the use of BWC. From this I developed the following themes: transparency, accountability, and photographic truth. Below is an analysis of the themes, demonstrating how police reform and BWCs as a technology of truth, overlap and undergird policing's aim of pacification.



IV. Analysis

The analysis revealed several key themes used to argue for BWCs. The first is transparency, which means that the police institution will operate under less secrecy and allow the public access to information regarding practices and procedures and involving them in police affairs. One example is creating time for public hearings on suggestions for policy improvements. The second is accountability, which was anything that pertained to officers or civilians being responsible and liable to discipline for their actions. Last is the image as truth, which included anything that discussed BWCs visual evidence as an objective truth that could resolve complaints or misconduct. This also included anything that deemed the perspective of state equipped BWCs as superior to outside perspectives. It is argued from a theoretical perspective that police reform such as BWCs are part of a pacification project seeking to create a mystification over a dysfunctional police institution and promising to increase transparency and accountability as a way of boosting professionalism.

Transparency

Under the Department of Justice, the office of Community Oriented Policing Services (C.O.P.S) is responsible for distributing and monitoring funds to determine the best policing practices relying heavily on community trust to facilitate the daily tasks of the police. In the third chapter of *Implementing a body worn camera program: recommendations and lessons learned* (Miller, et al., 2014) C.O.P.S makes recommendations that were developed from speaking to several police chiefs and



officers regarding their experience with BWCs. It is also noted that while results in different locations may vary, there are still general recommendations that could improve citizen and police interactions. One suggestion is to make officers equipped with BWCs easily identifiable. This allows for the public to set self-expectations on how to behave around officers that are recording. It is further suggested that officers being equipped with BWCs should be prioritized for those who most often spend time with the public. In addition, C.O.P.S suggests that the times and places that BWCs could be used by the police should be made public, allowing civilians to know when they are subject to the camera. This reflects concern for invading the public's privacy. As stated in the report:

Policies should clearly state which personnel are assigned or permitted to wear body-worn cameras and under which circumstances. (Miller, et al., 2014, pg. 38).

By limiting the extensive use of BWCs to specific police practices, the public is assured that surveillance is not an underlying objective. This also allows the public to be self-policed, as they would now know why they would be subjected to the camera. The police projects material changes made to boost transparency should then be understood as trying to convince the public to trust and be compliant with the police and that BWCs are a feasible way to reigning in police misconduct. Aspiring the public to accept their domination and state controlment by agreeing to set police practices, however, can interpreted as pacification that also aims at disavowing police violence.

The LAPD's Board of Police Commissioners are responsible for making sure that civilian voices are heard. In a formal hearing to discuss BWC policy, the Board



unanimously decided that the former policy prohibiting the publicizing of dash-cam and BWC recordings was obsolete and required changes. In hopes of setting a new precedent for police practices and an effort influence other police departments, the new policy requires recordings of "critical incidents" to be made public within forty-five days. According to the Los Angeles Times (Mather, 2018), the Commission's Vice President Matt Johnson, felt that the use of BWCs could build public trust by providing evidence necessary for investigating incidents involving an officer. The visual evidence, which is ostensibly an objective truth, could then be used to resolve differences between an officer and a civilian. As Johnson states,

I think this will go a long way in helping build trust through a significant increase in transparency. (Mather, 2018, pg. 4).

Commission vice president Matt Johnson's comment during the meeting regarding BWC policies reflects his unconditional support and trust in BWCs as a repairing mechanism for the havoc in the police institution. For example, "I think this will go a long way" (Mather, 2018, pg. 4), reflects how police reform instead calcifies the police institution's existence. Further, "helping build trust" reflects BWCs potential to regaining community trust that will facilitate continuing the police project. And "through a significant increase in transparency", the public can once again trust the police and allow them to witness the "truth" when skepticism rises.

We can see here how the diminishing levels of community trust are again heavily considered and failure to address the issue could lead to greater institutional challenges. This attempt at regaining public trust should be interpreted as no other than



a pacification project seeking to win the hearts and minds of the public so that they may accept being controlled and dominated by the same institution they were once skeptical of. As Correia and Wall note (2018), police reform, and in this case BWCs, pacify the public into accepting state domination by creating material changes to the police institution that may distance itself from violence and appear more professionalized.

Police Commissioner James O'Neill acting as head of the NYPD endorsed the New York Appellate Court's decision to make BWC and dash-cam recordings public. This can be seen as an attempt to boost community trust that facilitates police practices by stating that information will be openly provided. This decision met resistance from New York's largest police union, the Police Benevolent Association, who firmly believed that implementing BWCs too quickly could be problematic. Commissioner O'Neill responded by saying,

This ruling is an important step forward for transparency and affirms what the NYPD believes. (Sisak, 2019, pg. 2).

Police commissioners have continuously preserved the police institution by presenting BWCs as a feasible way to boost transparency. It further creates an opportunity for the public to spectate the supposed truth of the police project and the hardships faced by the police. This is an opportunity for the police institution to allow the public to gain an understanding of police tasks that produce safety and security. In doing so, the public becomes sympathetic for police officers and fail to consider that violence is a long existing systemic issue. It should now be understood that BWC reform theoretically pacifies the public and polices them through consent.



Public trust has long been crucial in developing police legitimacy and is more important when maintaining a long-term trust that will diminish the likelihood of needing future reform. Perhaps this led former President Barack Obama to issue the President's Task Force on 21st century policing which provides recommendations seeking to improve the current state of police practices. One recommendation made by the President's Task force on 21st Century policing is the need to transform the police culture into one that embraces public support. This recommendation provides an opportunity for the police institution "to build trust and legitimacy" in neighborhoods apathetic to police practices. As stated in recommendation 1.3 of the report,

Law enforcement agencies should establish a culture of transparency and accountability in order to build public trust and legitimacy. (President's Task Force on 21st century policing, 2015, pg. 12).

This recommendation implies that the current police culture lacks transparency, and that BWCs could rectify the issue. Boosting transparency and accountability -often a part of police reform- through BWCs instead pacifies the public by creating the idea of a professionalized police force that can provide facts of critical incidents that help understand police actions. If the public can witness the truth for themselves and learn to sympathize for individual officers acting in good faith, even if violently, then reformists hope that such material changes are enough to defuse institutional challenges that diminish police legitimacy.

The ACLU's goal is to preserve individual rights and liberties for all people, yet they most often favor police reform that affirms an institution that has historically



oppressed minorities. The ACLU states in their policy model (ACLU, 2016) that it is crucial to include a public hearing process for reform policies that will address community issues. As stated in the document,

> body-worn camera policies should be shaped and approved through a public process, allowing community stakeholders to address local concerns (ACLU, 2016, pg. 1).

Here we can see how the ACLU is similarly complicit in securing the police institution's existence. Rather than further challenging the policer power, the ACLU informs the public that their voices can create social change and to once again place their trust in the police. Once again, the public is involved in standardizing policies and procedures for BWCs that are meant to reign in police violence in exchange for submitting to state domination. Such recommendations made should then theoretically be understood as pacification projects that surreptitiously seek creating docile bodies and eliminating the state needing violence to obtain control. However, the ACLU is not alone in articulating recommendations that have sought to professionalize BWCs to obtain public trust.

Even more critical groups such as BYP 100, which is composed of African American youth seeking empowerment and freedom from state oppression, have similar approaches to standardizing BWCs as state organizations have had. In *Agenda to keep us safe* (Laney & Bonsu, n.d.), BYP 100 makes general policy recommendations seeking to eliminate African Americans from being targeted by state institutions like prisons and the police. Moreover, BYP 100 is critical of how the police are increasingly militarized and how the police power has controlled minorities. As a result of the



ongoing police fatal shootings, poor communities have become more apathetic to police practices. This intensified the demands for reform to bolster the dwindling levels of police legitimacy. For example, followed by the killing of Michael Brown was a petition to the White House for the Mike Brown Law that would require officers at all jurisdictional levels to be equipped with BWCs to increase transparency (Laney & Bonsu, n.d.). And although there is some benefit to surveilling the police, BYP 100 notes the caveat of BWCs possibly invading the public's privacy. Perhaps this inspired BYP 100's recommendation which would require limiting BWCs for officers who are easily identifiable and inferring to the public that their use is strictly for police practices and not a surreptitious act of surveillance. As stated in the report,

> Limit cameras to uniformed officers and marked vehicles, so people know what to expect. Officers who cannot be clearly identified as law enforcement should not have cameras. (Laney & Bonsu, n.d., pg. 14).

While BYP 100 is critical of institutions like the police that have historically oppressed Black youth, their recommendations in securing the police project should not be overlooked as a pacification project. Rather than seeking the abolition of the police institution, BYP 100 finds that the immediate material changes made to the police are an appropriate response to the pre-existing issue of police violence. More specifically, this seeks to turn Black youth into docile bodies that accept being policed by the state and defuse police criticism and conversations discussing inherent flaws to the police project.



Associates of the Black Lives Matter Movement and other activist groups have mobilized and demanded an end to systemic oppression of African Americans through Campaign Zero. Under this campaign there are ten proposals made that could arguably reign in police violence, although not eliminate it. One recommendation that focuses on needing to film the police demands that police officers should wear BWCs and be prohibited from preventing civilians from recording them. Campaign Zero also recommends that there be an external storage for camera recordings that will ensure the public that the police cannot tamper with collected evidence. As the group recommends,

> body and dash cam footage to be stored externally and ensure district attorneys and civilian oversight structures have access to the footage. (Campaign Zero, n.d., pg. 2).

However, implementing BWC policies that demand externally storing data fails to address quotidian police violence. Such recommendations may be presented as a great solution at face value, yet their material changes still preserve the police institution and fail to criticize how violence has long been a part of the police project. Thus, critical groups like Campaign Zero as well as others who endorse BWCs may not be done so nefariously. Their actions from a larger and theoretical perspective, however, unintentionally reaffirm the police project that secures state domination.

Lastly, in the "Pathways to police reform community mobilization kit" (2016), the NAACP articulates the importance of building a climate of trust between the public and the police by implementing reform that boosts transparency and accountability. This in turn preserves an institution that has long countered their goal of reaching equality for all people. Given the preexisting tensions between poor communities and



the police, the NAACP recommends that the community should participate in addressing issues regarding police misconduct and ensure that they are invested in disciplining officers. This creates a façade of police values that affirm public transparency allowing the public to participate in disciplining "bad cops." As stated in the report,

> An independent civilian review board is necessary to ensure that the community is engaged in addressing police misconduct (NAACP Criminal Justice Department, 2016, pg. 11).

Including the community in the disciplinary process for police misconduct affirms their role in deterring future altercations creating an empowerment feeling. This may satisfy the public's urges to be provided with a professionalized police institution, however, it also pacifies them by promising that material changes like BWCs can improve the police project by distancing it from the use of violence. By further increasing oversight the public is left with less reasons to question the police institution and instead accept it as a natural part of life. Arguably, transparency is one logic used by state and non-state organizations to articulate the benefits of BWCs and their ability in providing the truth, which are instead a project of pacification that bring the public to come to terms with state domination.

Accountability

Although transparency has worked to build community trust, it is more effective when partnered with the logic of accountability. If the larger society feels that the police operate under impunity, then it would make sense as to why BWCs are accepted by the public as a means of hindering police violence. Officers held accountable and



disciplined however great it may sound, still limits critical challenges relating to BWCs and their limited ability to curtail misconduct rather than eradicating it. Increasing accountability through BWCs is arguably another logic used to pacify the public by promising "bad cops" will be disciplined, rather than furthering discussions relating to the systemic violence existent in the police project.

The killing of Michael Brown as well as many others intensified the preexisting tensions between communities and the police. This has resulted in reduced levels of police legitimacy that could arguably hinder police tasks. The President's Task Force notes that the previous wrongs by the police have a damning effect on building community trust. Thus, accountability that stems from the truth fabricated by the BWC is ostensibly a feasible way that the slightest response to the inherent issues of the police project, shielding itself from further scrutiny. As stated in recommendation 1.2 of the report,

Law enforcement agencies should acknowledge the role of policing in past and present injustice and discrimination and how it is a hurdle to the promotion of community trust (President's task force on 21st century policing, 2015, pg. 12).

This report suggests that the admissions of past wrongs functions as a reminder of the lack of accountability that police officers have had and that this approach is the beginning to winning the 'hearts and minds' of skeptical community members. However, the recognition of injustice along with the failure to provide significant changes creates a meaningless indication and should instead be interpreted as a method



towards achieving an ideological pacification instead of addressing systemic issues in the police institution.

In addition to condoning the Court's decision on making police recordings public, the NYPD decided to make the largest deployment of BWCs in history and equipped all their officers with a device (New York City Police Department, 2019). Perhaps this precedent was set to influence other departments to follow their example of increasing police accountability. Consider Commissioner O'Neill's statement on BWCs and their benefits to building communication between the police and the public.

Body-worn cameras enhance the safety and accountability of the dedicated men and women of the NYPD while improving their ability to ensure public safety. (New York City Police Department, 2019, pg. 1).

While still providing accountability, BWCs visual evidence is said improve public safety, or as Neocleous (2000) states, the fabrication of social order. By simply providing visual evidence, BWCs are presented as a feasible way of eliminating state violence and, hence boosting professionalism. In exchange, the public is expected to trust the evidence provided and once again disavow state violence and submit to state control. Thus, by providing a visual evidence that promises accountability, the public is one step closer to pacification.

In addition, an increasing number of police departments that have experimented with BWCs have arguably built towards a consensus that they are a practical solution to the inherent pitfalls of the police projects. Routinizing the use of BWCs would now leave few reasons as to why an officer could justify his or her failure to active the



device. However, due to human error, one recommendation C.O.P.S. makes is to require officers to articulate why they failed to activate the BWCs (Miller, et al., 2014). As stated in the report,

Officers who wear body-cameras should be required to articulate on camera or in writing their reasoning if they fail to record an activity that is required by department policy to be recorded (Miller, et al., 2014, pg.39).

Creating a safety net for police departments and officers who fail to activate the devices is arguably another method used to continue the pacification process. Here the police institution is given the benefit of the doubt of still being able to justify police actions when failing to provide the truth. This should be considered as an empty gesture made to convince the public that enforcing discipline will remind officers to follow BWC policies in return for the public's trust. Through such gestures however, the police institution wins the hearts and minds of an untrusting public and in return continues the police project. The ACLU also makes recommendations for best practices, such as limiting an officer's discretion on the use of BWCs to obtain the highest levels of accountability (ACLU, 2016). Having to record under certain circumstances again ensures the ability to provide an objective truth for incidents involving officers. Such changes could be used to reflect race-neutral practices and undermine the inherent systemic issues of the police project. As stated in their document,

Body cameras don't advance accountability if police can turn them off any time they want. Officers should record when responding to a call for service or any investigative encounter. That includes stops, frisks, searches, arrests, consensual interviews and searches, enforcement actions of all kinds, and any encounter that becomes hostile or violent (Police body-worn cameras, 2016, pg. 2).



Here we can see how the ACLU is once again complicit in further calcifying the police institution by embracing BWC policies that may boost accountability. Rather than discussing critical challenges such as state violence used through a variety of practices, choosing to always record demonstrates to the public the willingness of holding officers accountable. This instead pacifies the public by creating a more professionalized police institution that no longer acts with impunity and is hence trustworthy. Thus, the public goes back to being policed and discontinue their critical institutional challenges. Campaign Zero further recommends developing and introducing a disciplinary matrix seeking to penalize officers who fail to record civilian interactions. this practice in theory should deter officers from failing to use their BWCs when ordered to. This could ensure that officers or police departments who find it problematic in following procedures will be reprimanded and enforce using the BWCs. As stated on their site,

include a disciplinary matrix clearly defining consequences for officers who fail to adhere to the agency's body camera policy (Campaign Zero, n.d., pg. 3).

We can see how Campaign Zero's efforts unintentionally preserve the police project by setting standards that will allegedly hold officers accountable for their wrongdoings. And that using BWCs will prevent misconduct from spreading. However, this fails to consider how it still seeks preserving an institution that has historically oppressed minorities that Campaign Zero is standing up for. Arguably, choosing to preserve the police institution is no different to pacifying victims of state violence. The NAACP further notes the necessity of having accountability to build community trust.



Police officers acquitted in the past for police misconduct has left skepticism in the public that the police operate under impunity. And that using BWCs can be used to reign in police violence by ensuring swift prosecutions shortly after critical incidents. Thus the NAACP affirms that boosting accountability professionalizes the institution and finds the material changes sufficient. Thus, accountability is used to boost police legitimacy which in turn preserves and shields the institution from political scrutiny. As stated in the report,

In addition to ensuring that officers who kill without justification are successfully prosecuted, reforms need to hold officers and police departments accountable for their misconduct short of using deadly force (Pathways to police reform, 2016, pg. 5).

Under the auspices of accountability, BWCs are presented as a promising tool to combat police violence and create opportunities to discipline officers as well. The issue however is that police violence will likely to continue regardless of boosting police accountability and should instead be interpreted as a pacification project seeking docile bodies that accept their control by the state through the police power. We can see then how accountability is simply another logic used by state and non-state organizations to articulate BWCs abilities in providing the truth that can be used to correct misconduct. Their ability however in producing the truth and holding officers accountable should be viewed as a way which the police institution places responsibility on officers for their actions and fails to address its own systemic issues. As a result the increasing accountability with BWCs does discipline some bad officers but it also dominates the



police visual that makes the institution seem professionalized and worth keeping around if material changes are made.

Image as truth

While BWCs can now be understood as reform efforts to boost transparency and accountability, and ultimately arrest police misconduct, we can interpret BWCs visual evidence as the states effort to dominate and pacify its visuality and limiting how the public perceives state violence. This grants the state the prerogative to undermine any outside existing images of state violence that could defame the police institution. As Correia and Wall (2018) have noted, arguably reforms true purpose is to give the public a new and re-formed way of understanding police legitimacy, and what better way than the perspective of officers involved in critical incidents.

This in turn naturalizes state power by deeming the officer's point of view as truthful and any outside perspectives illegitimate and hence making police violence unseeable (Mirzoeff, 2011a). Thus by dominating its visual, the police institution further calcifies its existence by distinguishing itself from its inherent use of violence and presents itself as a civil and indispensable institution. The office of C.O.P.S suggests that police officers should be prohibited from using their own recording devices and be limited only to BWCs provided by police departments. This approach embraces the objectivity of the truth provided by the state by diminishing any possibility for officers to fabricate any visual evidence of their own. The state in this case shields itself from its own working members to distance itself from political scrutiny. As stated in the report,



Agencies should not permit personnel to use privately-owned body-worn cameras while on duty. (Miller, et al., 2014, pg. 38).

By prohibiting officers from using their own devices, the state ensures that only its desired visuality is portrayed and that officers alone do not dictate what is considered an acceptable image of police work. Take the argument made by VanDyke's Lawyer, Daniel Herbert, who stated that no perspective is relevant regardless of how close it may be, because it fails to capture the perspectives of the officer involved. This in turn affirms the states prerogative in dominating its visual that is used to distance the police institution from violence. And although the recommendations made by the NAACP are not intentionally set to bolster the police project, they perfectly instill the public with pacification by promising that the material changes made will combat police violence. thus, police reform advocating for BWCs is used to create an argument that promises distancing violence from police work. It also re-forms how the public understands police power (Correia & Wall, 2018) and how we should interpret it. For example, Commissioner O'Neill believes that it is beneficial to police and civilians alike for departments to release visual evidence captured on BWCs. Providing the truth to the public enables their ability to see firsthand the dangers the police face while maintaining peace and order, turning cops into heroes for their willingness to risk their lives for our safety.

> Not only is the public entitled to this information, but this footage overwhelmingly shows just how brave, skilled and dedicated our cops are every single day in service of the people of New York City" (Sisak, 2019, pg. 2).



This narrative surreptitiously spreads police ideology by making the public sympathize for the hard work done by the police to maintain peace. It also mystifies the realities of police violence by focusing on the heroic officers and not the few bad cops. Commissioner O'Neill, who is presenting BWC visual evidence as representative of true police work, is arguably the only way that he along with the public could interpret it, given that we exist upon a hegemonic "common sense" that narrows the understanding of police work (Mirzoeff, 2011b). With the public now having a new understanding of the police, it is likely that could more easily be subject to state domination without using violence. The narrative used in the Task Force on 21st Century Policing relating to BWC visual evidence arguably reflects similar attempts to present the states visual as an objective truth. As stated in the report,

By documenting encounters between police and the public, BWCs can also be used to investigate and resolve complaints about officer-involved incidents (President's Task Force on 21st century policing, 2015, pg. 31).

Rather than stating that any visual evidence can be used to resolve civilian complaints, the report suggests that BWCs specifically have the power to do so. By dominating and choosing how to present its visuality, the state can now distance police power from misconduct by using an approved image of policing to resolve critical incidents. Another issue however, as the report states, the goal from BWCs is simply to resolve complaints. Thus, the very same material changes that promised eliminating police misconduct by boosting transparency and accountability fail to address the deeprooted issues of state violence. As we can see, state organizations recommendations



deliberately shield the police institution by advocating for police reform that will reign in police violence by increasing accountability. However, they should simply be taken as empty gestures that are made to pacify the public masses and subject them to state control.

Non-state organizations similarly narrate BWCs visual evidence as being truthful and a feasible solution to police violence. Perhaps the NAACP supports using visual evidence because it has been used in the past to hold officers accountable. Doing so creates the opportunity for the public to disbelief that the police operate with impunity and are trustworthy. This would then make sense why the public would believe BWCs could reign in police misconduct directed towards people of color. As stated in the report,

> Video footage of police shootings has illustrated graphically the complaints communities have been raising for years. Action on complaints of misconduct should not require video proof. However, body worn cameras and dashcams can be useful tools in ensuring transparency in law enforcement (NAACP Criminal Justice Department, 2016, pg. 8).

The NAACP states that because visual evidence has at times demonstrated the realities of police work in disadvantaged areas, it can now be used more efficiently through BWCs to hold officers accountable. As Mirzoeff (2011b) notes, visuality is the reproduction of state power, and by holding few officers accountable, the police project is secured while the material changes made are working accordingly. More importantly, because we are bounded within a dominant ideology (Jones & Wardle, 2010) that limits how we understand police reform, it could be difficult for the public to critique the



police project as trying to reach perfection. It is now made easier for the police institution to dominate its visuality through BWCs when non-state organizations like the NAACP choose to endorse reform, however, with the hopes of curtailing state violence. Campaign Zero similarly believes that because incidents pertaining to police violence have been exposed through BWCs, there is hope that they can be used to hold officers accountable. As stated in their site,

While they are not a cure-all, body cameras and cell phone video have illuminated cases of police violence and have shown to be important tools for holding officers accountable (Campaign Zero, n.d., pg. 1).

Here, I argue that although the efforts made by Campaign Zero to hold officers accountable is not intended to reaffirm police power, their narratives could be used by the state to demonstrate that even critical groups endorse the material changes made to the police. However, this further entrenches the police institution as it provides the state with the prerogative of controlling its visuality, can easily distance itself from violence, and deems what is an approved image of police work. Thus, a critical group that resists Black oppression advocating for police reform instead facilitates the pacification of the powerless.



V. Conclusion

While the focus here are the problems of police reform, the deeper analysis relies on BWCs and their ability to function as a project of pacification. The material changes made such as BWCs, are said to bolster police transparency and accountability by providing what is said to be truthful visual evidence of critical incidents. However this should be interpreted as a political tactic used to professionalize the police institution by presenting itself as responsive to misconduct. While violence is inherent to the police project, it seems more logical to the institution to treat few officers as scapegoats if it means further entrenching itself. Just as indigenous populations were subjected to Spanish Law through nonlethal approaches, their ideological domination diminished the need to use force and produced compliant, docile bodies. Thus while state violence has not abated, this creates demands for material changes to be made that further professionalize the police but modernize it as well. And in the age of technology, BWCs are the newest approach to police reform that are presented to the public as panacea to police misconduct by providing truthful evidence that holds officers accountable. However, officers held accountable should be taken as an empty gesture, as it fails to consider the police projects inherent use of violence that secures the capitalist enterprise and never really does eradicate police misconduct.

Thus, state and non-state organizations efforts in endorsing BWCs for potentially arresting misconduct should be interpreted as the state achieving pacification through its visual. For example, a wholesale adoption of BWCs would imply that there



is trust in them to actually provide accountability. In doing so, the public is giving credibility to the visual received by the state during critical incidents. That alone should indicate that once again, state power creates a hegemonic "common sense" (Mirzoeff, 2011b) that authorizes it approved image of police work. Instead, as Mirzoeff (2011a) notes, the state naturalizes its power by deeming its point of view as the only legitimate source of facts. In dominating its visual, the police institution masks its use of force by showing the public the brave and risky work conditions that officers face when providing security. By advocating for police reform and specifically the use of BWCs which provide accountability, state and non-state organizations facilitate the pacification process by influencing the public into disavowing state violence in exchange for material changes. However, recall from the Laquan McDonald case that it often does not matter whether officers are held accountable or not if the violence will continue even after the legal settlements for victims' families. What comes with reform then are simply empty gestures made from the police institution promise accountability through visual evidence in exchange for submission to state domination.



References

- Abolition research group. (2017). The problem with community policing. Retrieved from <u>http://aworldwithoutpolice.org/2017/10/08/the-problem-with-community-policing/</u>
- ACLU. (2016). Police body-worn cameras: how to do it right in Massachusetts. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aclum.org/sites/default/files/wp-</u> content/uploads/2016/07/BWC-ACLUM-Position-6-23-16.pdf
- Ariel, B., Farrar, W., & Sutherland, A. (2015). The effect of police body-worn cameras on the use of force and citizens' complaints against the police: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, *31* (3), 509-535.
- Ariel, B., Sutherland, A., Henstock, D. et al. (2016a). Contagious accountability: a global multisite randomized controlled trial on the effect of police body-worn cameras on citizens' complaints against the police. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 44 (2), 293-316.
- Ariel, B., Sutherland, A., Henstock, D. et al. (2016b). Report: increases in police use of force in the presence of body-worn cameras are driven by officer discretion: a protocol-based subgroup analysis of ten randomized experiments. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *12*, 453-463.
- Ariel. B., Sutherland, A., Henstock, D., et al. (2016c). Wearing body cameras increases assaults against officers and does not reduce police use of force: Results from a global multi-site

experiment. European Journal of Criminology, 13. 744-755.



Barthes R. (1981). Camera lucida. New York: Hill and Wang.

Biber, K. (2007). Captive images: Race, crime, photography. New York: Routledge.

Butler, J. (1993). Endangered/endangering: schematic racism and white paranoia. In Robert Gooding-Williams (Ed.), Reading Rodney King/reading urban uprising.

Butler, J. (2009). Frames of war: When is life grievable? London: Verso.

Campaign Zero. (n.d.). Body Cams/ Film the Police. Retrieved from

https://www.joincampaignzero.org/film-the-police

- Celona, L. (2013). "NYPD in a 'Snap' Judgment: PBA and Brass Resist Order to Carry Cameras." Retrieved from <u>https://nypost.com/2013/08/14/nypd-in-a-snap-judgment-pba-and-brass-resist-order-to-carry-cameras/</u>
- Correia, D., & Wall, T. (2018). Police: a field guide. Verso Books.
- Choongh, S. (1997) Policing as Social Discipline. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Fagan, J., Geller, A., Davies, G., & West. (2010). Street stops and broken windows revisited: The demography logic of proactive policing in a safe and changing city, in S.K. Rice & M.D. White, eds., Race, ethnicity, and policing: New and essential readings. 309-348.
- Farrar, E., & Ariel, B. (2013). Self-awareness to being watched and socially desirable behavior: a field experiment on the effect of body-worn cameras and police use of force. Washington, DC: Police Foundation.



Feldman, A. (1994). On Cultural Anesthesia: From Desert Storm to Rodney

King. American Ethnologist, 21(2), 404. Retrieved from

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=eds

jsr&AN=edsjsr.645896&site=eds-live&scope=site

Fenton, J. (2018). Baltimore officer who turned off body worn camera charged with tampering with evidence. Retrieved from <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/baltimore-police-officer-</u> <u>who-turned-off-body-camera-charged-with-tampering-with-</u> evidence/2018/01/24/6c6700ae-015b-11e8-bb03-

722769454f82 story.html?utm term=.49dcd7e4e3b5

- Frydl, K. (2013). The drug wars in America, 1940-1973. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Goldsmith, A. (ed.) (1991) 'External Review and Self-Regulation: police accountability and the dialectic of complaints procedures', in A. Goldsmith (ed.) Complaints against the Police: The Trend to External Review. Oxford: Clarendon.
- Goldsmith, A. (2001) 'The Pursuit of Police Integrity: Leadership and Governance Dimensions', Current Issues in Criminal Justice 13: 185–202.

Goldsmith, A. (2003) 'Policing Weak States: Citizen Safety and State Responsibility', Policing and Society 13: 3–21.

Goldsmith, A. (2005). Police reform and the problem of trust. *Theoretical Criminology*. 9 (4), 443-470.



- Goodall, M. (2007). Guidance for the Police Use of Body-Worn Video Devices. London: Home Office. <u>http://revealmedia.com/wp-</u> content/uploads/2013/09/guidance-body-worn-devices.pdf.
- Jennings, W., Fridell, L., & Lynch, M. (2014). Cops and cameras: Officer perceptions of the use of body-worn cameras in law enforcement. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 42, 549-556.
- Jones, P., & Wardle, C. (2010). Hindley's ghost: The visual construction of Maxine Carr. In K. Hayward & M. Presdee (Eds.), Framing crime: Cultural criminology and the image (pp. 53–67). New York: Routledge.
- Katz, C., Choate, D., Ready, J., & Nuño, L. (2014). Evaluating the impact of officer worn body cameras in the Phoenix Police Department. Phoenix, AZ: Center for Violence Prevention & Community Safety, Arizona State University.
- Katz, C., Kurtenbach, M. (2014). Deploying officer body-worn cameras in Phoenix.Washington, D.C.: Office of Justice Programs Diagnostic Center.
- Kienscherf, M. (2011). A programme of global pacification: US counterinsurgency doctrine and the biopolitics of human (in)security. *Security Dialogue*, 42(6), 517–535.
- Kuzmarov, J. (2012). Modernizing Repression: Police Training and Nation-Building in the American Century. Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press.
- Kotsko, A. (2012). Why we love sociopaths: A guide to late capitalist television. John Hunt Publishing.



- Laney, T., & Bonsu, J. (n.d.). Agenda to keep us safe. Retrieved from <u>https://agendatobuildblackfutures.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/BYP100-</u> <u>Agenda-to-Keep-Us-Safe-AKTUS.pdf</u>
- Levi, M. (1998) 'A State of Trust', in V. Braithwaite and M. Levi (eds) Trust and Governance, pp. 77–101. New York: Russell Sage.
- Linnemann, T. (2017). Bad cops and true detectives: the horror of the police and the unthinkable world. *Theoretical Criminology*.
- Linnemann, T. (2017). In plain view: Violence and the police image. In: Brown M and Carrabine E (eds) Routledge International Handbook of Visual Criminology.London: Taylor & Francis, pp. 243–254.

Linnemann, T., & Medley, C. (2018). Black sites, "dark sites": war power, police power,

and the violence of the (un)known. Crime Media Culture. 1-18.

- Machuca Captain B de V. ([1599]2008) Milicia Indiana, trans. TF Johnson. In Machuca Captain B de V, Indian Militia and Description of the Indies. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Mather, K. (2018, March 20). LAPD to reverse policy and make body camera, patrol car videos public. Retrieved from <u>https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-lapd-video-release-20180320-story.html</u>
- Mesa Police Department. (2013). On-officer body camera system: Program evaluation and recommendations. Mesa, AZ: Mesa Police Department.



Miller, L., & Toliver, J. & Police Executive Research Forum. (2014). Implementing a body-worn camera program: Recommendations and lessons learned.
Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Assistance, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services.

Mirzoeff, N. (2011a). The right to look. Critical Inquiry, 37(3), 473–496.

- Mirzoeff, N. (2011b). The right to look: A counterhistory of visuality. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Mitchell, J. (1994) Koon again testifies that King beating was justified. Los Angeles Times. Available at: <u>http://articles.latimes.com/1994-04-27/local/me-</u>

50913_1_rodney-g-king (accessed 22 April, 2019).

NAACP Criminal Justice Department. (2016). Pathways to Police Reform Community Mobilization Toolkit. Retrieved from

https://www.naacp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Toolkit.pdf

- National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders. (1968). United States. Government Printing Office. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hsdl.org/?abstract&did=35837</u>
- Neocleous, M. (2000) *The fabrication of social order: A critical theory of police power*. London and Sterling, VA: Pluto Press.
- Neocleous, M. (2011) "A brighter and nice new life": Security as pacification. Social & Legal Studies 20:191–208.
- Neocleous, M. (2014). *War power, police power*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.



New York City Police Department. (2019). NYPD Completes Rollout of Body-Worn Cameras to All Officers on Patrol. Retrieved from

https://www1.nyc.gov/site/nypd/news/pr0306/nypd-completes-rollout-bodyworn-cameras-all-officers-patrol#/0

- ODS Consulting. (2011). Body Worn Video Projects in Paisley and Aberdeen, Self-Evaluation. Glasgow: ODS Consulting
- President's Task Force on 21st Century Policing. (2015). Final report of the President's task force on 21st century policing. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services.
- Police Accountability Tool. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://mappingpoliceviolence.org/cities
- Ready, J., Young, J. (2015). The impact of on-officer video cameras on police-citizen contacts: findings from a controlled experiment in Mesa, AZ. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*,11(3), 445-458.

Reiner, R. (2000) The Politics of the Police. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Rigakos, G, Ozcan, G. (2014). Pacification. In *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Globalization*, 1–4. edited by George Ritzer. Los Angeles: Wiley.

Schoenmann, Joe. (2012). "Police Union Threatens Legal Action over Metro's Decision to Test Body-Mounted Cameras." Las Vegas Sun, May 7, 2012. <u>http://www.lasvegassun.com/news/2012/may/07/police-unionthreatens-legal-action-over-metros-de/</u>



Sisak, M. (2019). NY Court: public allowed to see police body camera footage. Retrieved from https://www.apnews.com/f2e036ab2ae3485b9fc5d27d3251ba34

Seaskate Inc. (1998). The evolution and development of police technology. Retrieved from http://www.police-

technology.net/id59.html#Police%20Technology%20Timeline

Seigel, M. (2018). *Violence work: state power and the limits of police*. Duke University Press.

Sekula, A. (1986, October). The body and the archive. 39, 3-64

- Smykla, J., Crow, M., Crichlow, V., & Snyder, J. (2016). Police body-worn cameras: Perceptions of law enforcement leadership. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*. 41. 424-443.
- Stanley, Jay. (2013). Police Body-Mounted Cameras: With Right Policies in Place, A Win for All. Washington, DC: American Civil Liberties Union.

Sontag, S. (1977). On photography. New York: Picador.

- Thomas, D. (n.d.). Criminal Defense Attorney in Chicago | Former Chicago Police Officer. Retrieved from <u>https://danherbertlaw.com/article/van-dyke-lawyer-was-cpd-officer/</u>
- Tyler, T. & Huo, Y. (2002) Trust in the Law: Encouraging Public Cooperation with the Police and Courts. New York: Russell Sage.



Uhr, J. (2001). Accountability, scrutiny, and oversight. Background paper prepared for The Commonwealth Secretariat. Retrieved from

https://archives.cap.anu.au/cdi_anu_au_research/19982004/research_publiations /research_downloads/JohnUhr.pdf

- Wall, T., Linnemann, T. (2014). Staring down the state: police power, visual economies, and the "war on cameras". *Crime, Media, Culture*. 1-17.
- Williams, K. (2011). The other side of the COIN: Counterinsurgency and community policing. *Interface*, *3*(1), 81–117.
- Weitzer, R. (2002). Incidents of Police Misconduct and Public Opinion. Journal of Criminal Justice, 30, 397-408.
- White, M. (2014). *Police body-worn cameras: Assessing the evidence*. Washington,D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice: Office of Justice Programs Diagnostic Center.

